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Stewart, Duncan MR 1

From: Stewart, Duncan MR 1

Sent: Monday, 8 March 20108:30

To: 

Subject: FW: Underground Building Condell Park [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]
Categories: UNCLASSIFIED

UNCLASSIFIED

I should have added that if you require any further information the appropriate point of contact is Mr
Andrew Smith, Assistant Secretary, Property Branch, Department of Finance and Deregulation, Canberra.

Regards

Duncan

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence and is .subject to the
jurisdiction of section 70 of the Crimes Act 1914. If you have received this email in error, you are requested
to contact the sender and delete the email.

From: Stewart, Duncan MR 1
Sent: Monday, 8 March 2010 08:27
To: 
Subject: RE: Underground Building Condell Park [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

UNCLASSIFIED

We are in receipt of of correspondence signed by the Minister for Finance and Deregulation that advises
that "the Commonwealth does not own or have any proprietary interest in the land or bunker at Condell
Park".

Regards

Duncan Stewart

Acting Assistant Director Property Disposals
Property Disposals, Sydney, Defence Support Group

Ph: (02) 9393 3660 Fax: 9393 3785

From:  [mailto:
Sent: Friday, 5 March 2010 15:36
To: Stewart, Duncan MR 1

Subject: Underground Building Condell Park

hli Duncan,

As per our conversation this afternoon, I am enquiring into the ownership of the underground building on
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land located on the corner of Edgar and Marion Street Condell Park, Local Government Area
Bankstown. The underground structure is the former Air Defence Headquarters Sydney (commonly
referred to as No. 1 Fighter Sector Headquarters).

Regards,

Listings Officer
NSW Heritage Branch
ph: 9873-8537

This message is intended for the addressee named and may contain confidential/p:
Views expressed in this message are those of the individual sender, and are not
You should scan any attached files for viruses.

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence and is subject to the
Jurisdiction of section 70 of the Crimes Act 1914. If you have received this email in error, you are requested
to contact the sender and delete the email.
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THE HON LINDSAY TANNER MP
Minister for Finance and Deregulation

Member for Melbourne

REF: B10/109

The Hon Dr Mike KellyAM, MP
Parliamentary Secretary for Defence Support
Parliament House
CANBERRA ACT 2600

yu<
Dear Dr^elly

Parliamentary SecwOiy
for Defence Support'

Thank you again for your letter of 28 October 2009, concerning representations
from the Member for Blaxland, the Hon Jason Clare MP to the Minister for
Defence on behalf of Mr Luke Nicholls, General Manager of Bankstown City
Council, regarding the former World War It bunker at Condell Park, Bankstown
NSW.

As mentioned in my earlier reply of 21 December 2009, further investigation was
required to clarify legal ownership of, and interest in, the bunker site. My
Department has now completed its investigation and has concluded that the
Commonwealth does not own or have any proprietary interest in the land or
bunker at Condell Park.

If officers from the Department of Defence require any further information, they
are welcome to contact Mr Andrew Smith, Assistant Secretary, Property Branch,
Department of Finance and Deregulation on (02) 6215 2682.

Thank you again for bringing this matter to my attention.

Yours sincerely

^h<tacu^ kiujLA^--

Lindsa^Tar>r(er

08 FEB 20W
^^

Parliament House, Canberra ACT 2600 ~ Telephone: (02) 6277 7400 ~ Facsimile: (02)62734110
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THE HON LINDSAY TANNER MP
Minister for Finance and Deregulation

Member for Melbourne

The Hon Dr Mike KellyAM MP
Parliamentary Secretary for Defence Support
Parliament House

CANBERRA ACT 2600

/^ifcL

Dear Dr/Kelly

^ €
^poDr^s
RECEIVED'

0 5 JAN 2010

<?ToXec7et^

Thank you for your letter of 28 October 2009 concerning representations from the
Member for Blaxland, Mr Jason Clare MP to the Minister for Defence on behalf of

Mr Luke Nicholls, General Manager of Bankstown Council regarding the former
World War II bunker at Condell Park, Bankstown NSW.

I understand from Mr Nicholls' letter, that he is seeking assistance to resolve
several issues for the possible reuse of the bunker site. Further investigation is
required to clarify legal ownership of the bunker site; this has been difficult due to
its location underground.

I would hope to provide you with a more detailed reply, once the legal research
has been completed.

Thank you for bringing this matter to my attention.

Yours sincerely

^CUJUUL^

Lindsa^r Tanner

21 DEC 2009

Parliament House, Canberra ACT 2600 ~ Telephone: (02) 6277 7400 ~ Facsimile: (02) 62734110
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Item 3



The Hon Dr Mike Kelly AM MP
Parliamentary Secretary for Defence Support

Mr Jason Glare MP
Member for Btaxtand
Parliament House
CANBERRA ACT 2600

2 8 OCT

>̂<?-&> °<^\Dear Mj?€lare

Thank you for your representation of 17 September 2009 to the JVIinister for Defence,
Senator the Hon John Faulkner, on behalf of Mr Luke Nicholfs, General Manager of
Bankstown City Council, concerning the Council's interest in a World War II bunker
at Condell Park, Bankstown. As this matter falls within my portfolio responsibilities,
your correspondence has been passed to me for response.

I am advised investigations by Defence indicate that the WWII bunker at
Condell Park was disposed of in 1977. The predecessor agencies to the
Department of Finance and Deregulation were responsible for the disposal of the site
and any conditions that were associated with the sale are now managed by that
Department. I have referred this matter to the Minister for Finance and Deregulation.

I hope this information will be of assistance to you and Mr Nicholls.

Yours sin^er^y

///)

n / a /

MlHEKELLY

@

Parliament House, Canbarra ACT 2600 Tel: (02) 6277 4840 Fax: (02) 6277 8556
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The Hon Dr Mike Kelly AM MP
Parliamentary Secretary for Defence Support

The Hon Lindsay Tanner MP
Minister for Finance and Deregulation
Parliament House
CANBERRA ACT 2600

2 8 OCT 2009

lister ̂-'. ^i^'^lDear

I write concerning the attached representation of 17 September 2009 from
the Member for Blaxland, Mr Jason Clare MP to the Minister for Defence,
Senator the Hon John Faulkner, on behalf of Mr Luke Nicholls, General Manager of
Bankstown City Council, regarding a World War 11 bunker at Condell Park,
Bankstown.

I understand this property was disposed of in 1977, during which period Defence was
not responsible for the disposal of land. t understand that the predecessor agencies
to your Department dealt with property disposal in 1977 and I request that your
Department clarify the issues raised by Mr Clare MP. I have referred this matter to
you for your Department's action.

Yours sincerely
^ , 1 ^

MIKE KELLY
End

C^o;

Parliament House, Canberra ACT 2600 Tel: (02) 6277 4840 Fax:(02)62778556



Jason Ciare MP FEDERAL MEMBER FOR BLAXLAND

17 September 2009

Senator the Hon John F^
Minister for Defence
Parliament House
CANBERRA ACT 2600

REFERRED

13 SEP 3DC9

To the Office ot the Pattiainertt»ry
ulte8fi»Sary tor Do(ence Support

^Office of the Hon
Sen. John fa^

Dear Minister

I have been approached by Mr Luke Nicholte, General Manager of Bankstown City
Council regarding the Second World War (WW2) Bunker at Condelt Park,
Bankstown.

The bunker was constructed during the later part of the War (1943. 45). The two
storey underground concrete facility was used by the Royal Australian Air Force
(RAAF) as their No 1 fighter Sector Head Quarters (1FSHQ) base and the Allied
Forces' command post for the south-west Pacific.

In 2006 Bankstown Council investigated the possibility of restoring the bunker for
suitable reuse if the following issues could be resolved:

Determining the legal ownership of the Bunker site;
Determining access rights to the Bunker site from public roads; and
Obtaining commitment from other stakeholders to be involved in restoration.

Please find enclosed correspondence from Bankstown Councii outlining the
difficulties they have encountered in trying to establish the ownership of ttie property
where the bunker is situated.

Any assistance that you may be able to provide in establishing the ownership of the
land and any support for restoration of this historical and significant landmark would
be appreciated.

OL|rs sincere!

Clare MP
ER FOR BLAXLAND

Office: Suite 7, Level 1 , 400 Chapel Road. Bankstown
Mail: PO Box 153, Bankstown NSW 1885

Phone; (02) 9790 2466 • Fax:(02)97900770 • Email: jason.ciare.mp@aph. gov.au



BANKSTOWM CITY COUNOI.
PO Box 8. Bankstown NSW 1885 PH 02 9707 9999 FAX 02 9707 9495

"^
BANKSTOWN
Cl'y 9f Pr«fr»ff

OS SEP 2009

9 September 2009

The Hon. Jason Clare MP
Member for Blaxland

Parliamentary Secretary for Employment
P. O. Box 153
BANKSTOWN NSW 1885

Dear Mr. Clare

Second World War (WW 2} Bunker at Condell Park, Bankstown

As you may be aware Council has been exploring the possibility of restoring the
Second World War (VWV2) bunker located at Condell Park. Bankstown.

By the way of background, the bunker, focated at the corner of Marion Street and
Edgar Street Condell Park, was constructed circa 1943. During the later part of the
War (1943-45), the two storey underground concrete facility was used by the Royal
Australian Air Force_(RAAF) as their No 1 Fighter Sector Head Quarters (1FSHQ} /
base and the Allied Forces' Command post for the south-west Pacific.

Attached is copy of a recent report to Council, including information on the bunker,
its postwar history and potential options for restoration.

In April 1971, the then Commonwealth Minister for Housing announced that the
Commonwealth would offer the underground facility to Bankstown Council for
-coroaiuoity-use-aad-thatWar vSftrviceJiotnesjAiQulcLbe built nn ths rftmaindei_otthe-
9 acre site. It now appears that the handing over of the bunker site to Council did
not eventuate. The historic bunker is now buried beneath an open space,
surrounded by clusters of War Service homes built during 1974-75.

Council's 2006 investigation on the possibility of restoring the WW2 Bunker for
suitable reuse revealed that this is likely to be feasible only if the following issues
could be resolved:

1. Determining the legal ownership of the Bunker site.
2. Determining access rights to the Bunker site from public roads
3. Obtaining commitment from other stakeholders to be involved in the restoration.

Council also observed that the time and resources necessary to refit the facility to
its Wartime condition would itself be significant and unaffordable for Council alone,
unless a mutti-stakeholder initiative can be ensured. The possibility of

CUSTOMER SERVICE CENTRE Upper Ground Floor, Gvic Tower. 66.72 Rickard Rd. Bankstcwn
Hours 830am - 5.00pm Monday to Friday EBBAIl. cou ncil0bankstown.nsw.gov.au DX 11220 ABN 38 380 045 375

www. bankstown. nsw. gov. au



Commonwealth, the ADF, the State Government and philanthropic involvement
needs to be explored. Accordingly, at its Ordinary Meeting of 21 November 2006,
Council resolved to:

Liaise with Commonwealth and State and try to ascertain ffieir interest in
heritage listing of the bunker and a proposal for a mayor restoration of the
bunker as a pu6//c facility.

During 2007, Council wrote to the RAAF Head Quarters, Office of Air Force History,
the Secretary Department of Defence, the Australian Heritage Council, the Royal
Australian Historical Society, NSW Heritage Council and other relevant
Commonwealth, State agencies and peak bodies to ascertain their interest in a
project to restore the historical bunker.

The Secretary, Department of Defence referred the matter to the RMF HQs for
consideration by the RAAF Heritage Advisory Committee (RHAC) to ascertain
whether RAAF or the ADF has an interest in the project.

In November 2008, the NSW Department of Lands advised Council that during the
War the site was acquired for purposes of the Commonwealth, as notified in the
Government Gazette of 9 August 1945. Since this time the site has not reverted to
the Crown as Crown Land within the meaning of the Crown Lands Act, 1989 and as
such the NSW DepaUment of Lands has no further records relating to this parcel of
land.

Accordingly, Council advised the RMF HQs of this reply from the NSW
Department of Lands regarding the ownership of the land where the bunker is
buried.

In July 2009, Council received a reply from the Air Force HQs. which advised that
the RAAF Heritage Advisory Committee (RHAC) had given due consideration to
Council's request and decided that Defence support for restoration of the bunker
should be conditional upon Bankstown Council determining the legal ownership of
-tteJand^ncLdevelQping a viablp. rRRtnration project

The RHAC also advised that should a bunker restoration project proceed, support
from the Department of Defence would be limited to the provision of historical
research assistance from the Office of Air Force History.

Alfriough the ownership of the open space above the underground bunker appears
to be still with the Commonwealth, with the adjacent strata plans having the right of
way/easement over the actual bunker site, there seems to be some uncertainty
about this among Commonwealth agencies.

At ite meeting of 25 August 2009, Council resolved to seek your assistance "to
clarify the ownership of this property [the bunker site] with the relevant
Commonwealth Departments."



Council would appreciate your assistance in resolving this matter with the relevant
Commonwealth Departments and in getting Commonwealth actively involved in the
restoration of this WW2 historical site, particularly with a view to financial support,
given that Council could not proceed with the project within its own resources.'

Yours sincerely

General Manager

Attached: Copy of 25 August 2009 Council Report on the WW2 Bunker

/'
^

.^/
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Report of the General Manager - 25th August, 2009

ITEM 5.5

FILE

AUTHOR

Second World War (WW2) Bunker at Condell Park

BCC/000399/PT2

Governance and Financial Services

ISSUE

To-advise council of our review of the possibility of restoring the Second World War
(WW2) Bunker located at Condell Park.

BACKGROUND

WW2 Bunker at Condell Park

The Second World War (WW 2) bunker, located at the comer of Marion Street and
Edgar Street, Condell Park, was constructed circa 1943. During the later part of the
War (1943-45), the two storey underground concrete facility was used by the Royal
Australian Airforce (RAAF) as their No 1 Fighter Sector Head Quarters (1FSHQ)
base and the Allied Forces' Command post for the south-west Pacific. Attached
(Attachment A) is a Fact Sheet on the bunker compiled by Coundl officers, which
includes information on the site, its structure, post War history and potential options
for restoration.

The Bunker could arguably be described as of some historic significance for
Austrafia and an icon of Bankstown's War time history. Consequently, there has
been some interest in restoring the facility for a suitable reuse, for example as a
museum or a similar public facility.

In 1971, the Department of Defence handed over the 9 acre 3ite to the
}mmonyrealth-Department-of1-lousirTg-fordevetopin9 WarS@rvic?-homes. rt 'w^s-

about this time the underground facility, kept secured since the end of the War, was
rediscovered in an intact condition. Unfortunately, soon afterwards the historic facility
was burned out. It was either an act of vandalism or a fire lit by homeless people
who were known to squat there at the time.

In April 1971, the then Commonwealth Minister for Housing announced that the
Commonwealth would offer the underground facility to Bankstown Councif for
community use and that War Service homes would be built on the remainder of the 9
acre site. it now appears that the handing over of the bunker site to Council did not
eventuate. Therefore the ownership appears to be still with the Commonwealth, with
the adjacent strata plans haw'ng the right of way/easement over the actual bunker
site. The historic bunker is now buried beneath an open space, surrounded by
clusters of War Service homes built during 1974-75.

Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 25th August, 2009

-20-



Later in the year, in November 2007, Council wrote to the Secretary, Department of
Defence and as a result the matter was referred back to the RAAF HQs for
consideration by the RAAF Heritage Advisory Committee to ascertain whether RAAF
or the ADF has an interest in the project.

As the Commonwealth Department of Defence and the RAAF was uncertain about
the ownership of the bunker site, in December 2007 and again in October 2008,
Council wrote to the Director General, NSW Department of Lands to ascertain the
ownership of the open space at the site under which the bunker is believed to be
situated.

In November 2008, Council received a reply from the NSW Department of Lands
(Attachment B) advising that during the War the site was acquired for purposes of
the Commonwealth, as notified in the Government Gazette of 9 August 1945. Since
this time the site has not reverted to the Crown as Crown Land within the meaning of
the Crown Lands Act, 1989 and as such the NSW Department of Lands has no
further records relating to this parcel of land,

in December 2008, Council advised the RAAF HQs of this reply from the NSW
Department of Land regarding the ownership of the land where the bunker is buried.

(n July 2009, Council received a reply from the Department of Defence (copy in
Attachment C). The Department advised that the RAAF Heritage Advisory
Committee (RHAC) has given due consideration to Council's request and decided
that Defence support for restoration of the bunker should be conditional upon
Bankstown Council determining the legal ownership of the land and developing a
viable restoration project.

The RHAC ateo advised that should a bunker restoration project proceed, support
from the Department of Defence would be limited to the provision of historical
research assistance from the Office of Air Force History.

No option avaiiable for potential restoration of the WW2 Bunker

The replies received from the NSW Department of Lands and the RAAF HQs hardly
-leave _Couoc)l-with-any-_viaUe-option^o-proceed-with-tbe-FestOFatioo-of-tb®-WW2-
Bunker at Condefl Park.

Although the open space above the underground bunker still appears to be
Commonwealth land, the surrounding strata plans have right of way/easement over
this, thus making any future arrangement for entry/egress to and from the bunker
hard to resolve, in a way suitable for a public facility.

^

Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 25th August, 2009

. 22-



1. Council note the outcome of the review of the possibility of
restoring the Second World War (WW2) Bunker located at
Condell Park.

2. The matter be referred to the Heritage Committee for further
consideration.

3. Council write to the Federal Member, Mr Jason Clare, MP
seeking his assistance to clarify the ownership of this property
with the relevant Commonwealth Departments.

- CARRIED.

Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 25th August, 2009

. 24-
35



ATTACHMENT A

World War 2 Bunker and RAAF Sector HQ at Condell Park, Bankstown, South-
western Sydney.

Location of the Bunker

The Wortd War 2 bunker, constructed circs 1943, is located at the corner of Marion Street
and Edgar Street, Bankstown and is buried beneath an open space, surrounded by clusters
of War Services homes (Photos in Attachment -A}. In the past, the site used to be known as
the bush^and of Black Charlie's Hill. The site was originally owned by the Bankstown
Hospital Trust and was later on acquired by the Commonweaith. The site'was selected for
the underground RAAF and Allied Command Post because of its proximity to the Bankstown
Airport and the relay stations around the area.

Description of the Bunker

During the war, this bunker was used by the No. 1 Fighter Sector HQ, RAAF as the Allied
Command Post for the entire South Pacific operation. There was a code room, radio
transmitter room, kitchen, buffet (dining) area, male and female bathrooms, bedrooms and
the main operation hall had a huge wall map of the Southwest Pacific Area.

From the available drawings (floor plans and sections) and photographs of the interior, it
appears that the bunker itseif is a two-storey facility - a basement and a ground floor each 9
feet (2.75m) high - measuring 117 feet 8.75 inches by 53 feet 9.5 inches (approx 35.9m x
16 4m) [Attachment-B]. The walls were constructed from brickwork approximately two feet
(60cm) thick, with floors and ceilings of reinforced concrete. The roof of the bunker was
constructed of three feet (91cm) thick concrete to make it bombproof. There were two
exhaust air stacks and an air intake stack protruding above ground.

The underground facility housed an extensive communication system, which was reportedly
linked to a control tower at Bass Hill. The bunker had an emergency power plant, air
conditioning and 50 telephones installed.

A Brief Post-war History: Rediscovered and Burned Out in 1970s

After the war, the facility was closed and was assigned a caretaker for three years. At the
end-of thts-period-the-facility-was-secured-Thereafler^the-bunker-complex-had-remained-
forgotten for nearly 30 years, except that in 1965 the facility was briefly occupied by the
Navy in connection w'th the naval exercises in the Pacific. In 1971, the nine-acre site was
handed over to the Commonwealth Department of Housing for developing War Services
homes.

It was about this time that the existence of the underground headquarters was rediscovered
in 1971 and the whole facility including all equipment, telephones and furniture were found to
be intact [Photo in Attachment C].

On Wednesday the 21 April 1971, The Sydney Morning Herald, The Daily Telegraph and
The Torch (local newspaper) simultaneously published news items disdosing the existence
of the underground RAAF HQs and Allied Command Post.



Access to the Facility

Currently, the entrance and air vents are buried beneath the ground and are not identifiable.
Reportedly, the main entrance to the bunker is now buried below the backyard of one of the
villas.  mentioned above, even had named the owner of this home in his
19&4 artide, It may be possible to explore and identify the location of the entrance from the
copies of plans (construction drawings) available and information from people who
reportedly entered the bunker in the 1970s, 1980s and 1990s.

As already mentioned, without further research, it cannot be immediateiy confirmed whether
the actual bunker site (the vacant land) forms part of the adjoin ing strata plans or is still
Commonwealth/public land. The legal ownership of the open space and access rights from
pubiic roads are primary issues that need to be investigated and sorted out first, before any
option for restoration and reuse can be effectively considered.

Potential and Options for Restoration

From the copies of plans and other construction drawings available, the underground
Command Post bunker appears to be a professionally designed and robustly constructed
facility. Although furniture, soundproof wall claddings, ceilings, and artifacts were burned out,
its concrete and brick shell is expected to stilt retain its structural integrity and soundness.
So, it is likely to be feasible to restore the facility for suitable reuse, for example, as a
museum or a similar public facility, subject to the ability to provide legal and safe access and
egress.

When it was rediscovered in 1971, its interior was completely intact and a series of
photographs taken at that time is still available, and restoration of the interior to its wartime
look is considered still technically feasible. But this may be an affordable option only if the
Commonwealth, State and other stakeholders are convinced of its historic significance and
are willing to commit themselves to a restoration project.

A less expensive option wif! be to get the structural integrity and safety of the burned out
shell confirmed by experts and then use it as'it-is as a historical facility or a compatible
tourism or community related purpose, including a WW2 memoratelia museum or a light and
sound WW2 history show. For example, in Mallacoota near Melbourne, local RSL and
Historical Society converted a WW2 RAAF bunker at Mallacoota's airstrip into a military
museum. Sappers from the Australian Army earned out the restoration work.

In Darwin,_the East_Pointbynj<er_where the amv planned top_end_defence_sirategy_dunng.
WW2 has been converted into a military museum. In Coffe Harbour, the City Council and the
local Rotary Club joined hands and restored a derelict VWV2 bunker to house the Australia's
largest original cartoon cotlection, known as Bunker Cartoon Gallery. Only minor alterations
were made to ensure the historicai integrity of the structure was preserved.

The Way Forward

Definitely, the first step will be to researcn and gather more informatton about the ownership
of the actual bunker site and feasibility of public access to it, if needed by acquiring use of
the site from the Commonwealth and/or entering into an arrangement with the adjoining
property owners, if that is feasible.

Another basic step is to go for a preliminary engineering, heritage and conservation
assessment of the site. This may be followed by an initiative to get the site heritage listed.
This status will facilitate involvement of Commonwealth and other stakeholders - including.
for example, Australian Defence Forces, RSL, philanthropic organisations and the media -_\n
the provision of funding, expertise and community support to help the project take off. For
example, in 2006, the President of the Bankstown Sports Club had expressed interest in
taking a proposal to his board to contribute to the restoration of the bunker.

s47F
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EXC07/353

Department of Lands'

Mr G Brown

Group Manager
Strategy ana Governance
Bankstown City Council
PO BOX 8
8ANKSTOWN NSW 1885

-^i^w^^owvi"
w,... --i :. i:v^-^ff

; 7 u"y ?o<№

;,. r'!.-v

^dMistiifftiftft A AtaAfffltnW
fiaf"lf > Spvw InfarmaUw

Dear Mr Brown,

I rsfsr to your representations to bu Wamk* Watkins. Director General, Departmerrt of Lands
concerning Ihe status of land at Bankstown under which a World War 2 bunker is situated The
Director Genera] has asked me to investigate your request and respond on his behalf. TaDoioaii
for the tfelay in replying-

The land on whldi the bunker is situated originally famed part or a 50 acre grant for an estate in
fe» simple K) Ousetey CondelL The sile was. subsequently acquired for purposes of the
Commonwealth notified in the Government Gazeae of 9 Ausust, 1945.'

Subsequent to its alienation the land has not reverted to the Crown as Crown land within the
meaning of (he Crown Lands Act. 1988 and as such this Office has no (unher records relaBna ig
this parcel erf land.

Yours faithfully

John Fitocamo
Program Manager
Land AdministraUon
Sydney Regfon

^
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Ref: ASPS/OUT/2009/10'2-
Requested

UNCLASSIFIED

Australian Government

Department of Defence

Parliamentary Secretory
for'Defence Support

r Secretary.

MINISTERIAL REPRESENTATION

To: Dr Kelly Timing: Routine

Required by:
Reason: 05 NOV 2009

Copies to: Secretary, CDF, DepSec DS, FASMSPA, HI, HDSO, RD DS-NNSW, SCA-DSG.

Ownership and Access Rights to a WWII bunker at Condell Park,
Bankstown NSW.

Recommendation:

That you:

i. sign the attached letter to Mr Jason Clare MP, Member for Blaxland advising that
the matter has been referred to tlie Hon Lindsay Tanner MP, Minister for Finance
and Deregulation.

SIGNED /NOTGlGNEe-

ii. sign the attached letter to the Hon Lindsay Tanner MP, Minister for Finance and
Deregulation.

SIGNED / N^T SIGNED.

Key Poiiits:

I. Bankstown City Council has previously raised this issue with Defence.
Investigations by Defence indicate that the WWII bunker at Condell Park was sold
by the Defence Service Homes Corporation, NSW in 1977.

2. The sale and redevelopment ofBankstown Airport was managed by the Department
of Finance and Deregulation (and its predecessors). In December 2007 this matter
was referred to the Department of Finance and Deregulation. A copy of
correspondence (ASPS OUT 2007 227) at Attaclimeut A refers.

3. As tliis land is not owned by Defence any queries concerning the current ownership
of the site will need to be directed to the Department of Finance and Deregulation.

Sciisitivity:

4. Nil.

Resources:

5. Nil.
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Consultation:

6. Nil.

Attachments:

A. Copy of correspondence from Assistant Secretary Property Services to Bankstown
City Council dated 11 December 2007 - ASPS OUT 2007 227.

B. Draft letter to the Mr Jason Clare MP, Member for Blaxland.

C. Draft letter to the Hon Lindsay Tanner MP, Minister for Finance and Deregulation.

Approved By:
Michael Healy
Assistant Secretary Property Services
Defence Support Group
Infrastructure Division
'October 2009
;6ntact Officer: Michael Healy Phone: (02) 6266 8650
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Australian Governn1ent 

Department ofDefence 
Defence Support Group 

ASPSiOUT/200 7 /221 

Mr Greg Brown 
Group Manager 
Strategy and Go,•emanc� 
Bankstown City Council 
PO Box 8 
BANK.STOWN NS\V 1885 

Dear Mr Brown 

Micl1�cl Hc-:ily 
As.�istalll Secma1)· 
Proper,>' S<:ivi�,$ 
BP3-2-A00I 
Department r.f Dcfon.:c 
CAN�ERRA ACT ;?600 
ll1icl1acl.Hc-:i\y,i,i, d.-rmcc.g<>\' -�u 

T.:i; o: 6266 �-l'JO 
F:u: 02 (,:!66 8276 

WW 2 Bunker in Bankstown: RAAF's No.I Fighter Sector HQ (1943-'45) 

Thank you for your letter of l 2 November 2007 to Mr Nick Warner. Secretary Department of 
Defence. This matter has been referred to the Department of Finance and Deregulation who 
·will contact you to resolve the issue.

The contact person in the Department of Finance and Deregulation is Dr Guy Verney, who 
can be contacted on 02 6215 2222. 

I tnlst this matter can be expediently resolved to the satisfaction of both Bankstown City 
Council and the Commonwealth. 

Yours sincerely 

Assistant Secretary 
Prope1ty Services 

� 
,. 

{ / December 2007 

P,fe111Ji11,: .·lll.<trulia mid it.r ,1,;01i1mof /111,T,•.1·/.� 
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Aiistralian Gavemmcnl

Depitrtiticnt of Defence

Dcfcncc Support Group

Facsimile
Duncan Stewart
Acting Assistant Director
Property Disposals
Level 19, 270 Pftt Street
Defence Plaza

Department of Defence
SYDNEY NSW 2000
duncan. stewartl ©.defence. ciov. au

Tel: 02 9377 3660
Fax: 02 9377 3005

To
Facsimile

t^C<r\<p», ^3

Telephone
^oz-^,̂  &z5<s-

email

From Duncan STEWART

Facsimile (02) 9377 3005
Telephone (02)93773660
email duncan. stewartl @defence. gov. au

Subject ^^^3v<%>—ov^^> - v^^^-^ \\~ ^-.^v^v1^^:
Reference
\AOO^ ^^•?\\v_ 6^ ^-V\\\Q^

Date
^_%, '^<^^ -^00^

Pages
(includinq cover): A^

Instructions or comments:

\<^. ^^J^C^J)^Q^2^i ̂ Q^^^^^£^ S^^G-c^ ̂ V&^3
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\
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Peaker, Nicola MS

From:

Sent:

To:

Cc:

Subject:

Attachments:

fldAfterOnSend:

fldClassification:

fldComposed:

fldPmNs:

fldPmVer:

fldPrecedence:

French, David MR 1

Tuesday, 15 July 2008 8:21

Peaker, Nicola MS

Firkins, Isabel MS

FW: WWII BUNKER @ BANKSTOWN, NSW [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

Letter to Mr Greg Brown -11 Dec 2008 - WW2 Bunker Bankstown.pdf
UNCLASSIFIED ROUTINE

UNCLASSIFIED

sent

gov. au

2005.6

ROUTINE

fldPrevClassification: UNCLASSIFIED

fldVersion: V1. 0.9

UNCLASSIFIED

Nicola,

This is the other project I wanted you to look into. Isabel might be able to provide some assistance in my
absence. We are waiting for any response to the email below - but I suggest we will be asked to carry the
matter.

Can you speak with Isabel and 'investigate' where the file might be hiding - we think it has been misplaced.

Thanks

Dave French

Director

Property Disposals

Tel. (02)62668017

From: French, David MR 1
Sent: Friday, 11 July 2008 10:20
To: Green, Dennis AIRCDRE 1

Cc: Clifton, Alison MS; Lacey, Graham MR; Holcroft, Lorraine MS; Weston, Terry MR
Subject: RE: WWII BUNKER @ BANKSTOWN, NSW [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

UNCLASSIFIED

AIRCDRE Green,

In late 2007 this matter was referred to the Department of Finance and Deregulation (DoFD) for action as the
last "owner" of the site appeared to have been the then Commonwealth Department of Housing. Any
disposal/transfer action of Commonwealth property around that time would have been handled by an agency
now subsumed by DoFD - the former Dept of Administrative Sen/ices or the Australian Property Group.

ASPS wrote to Council advising them of the DoFD point of contact (copy attached). To date I have been
unable to locate either a response from Council or DoFD on this issue.

15/07/2008
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It would appear to me that the issue of ownership remains unresolved, therefore so do the respective heritage
obligations for preserving the site under either Commonwealth or State legislation.

Might I suggest that the RAAF Heritage Advisory Committee make contact with Council to determine what, if
any, action has taken place. If nothing has happened it would be useful if Council could provide the Lot and
Section number for the property and a copy of the registered title from their Lands Titles Office. The title
should establish legal ownership. If no title is able to be located the Commonwealth will need to seek legal
opinion as to the way forward. This matter would need to be discussed further between Defence and DoFD to
determine who should carry the action.

Hope this assists.

Dave French
A/ASPS

Tel. (02) 6266 8017

From: Lacey, Graham MR
Sent: Wednesday, 2 July 2008 17:21
To: French, David MR 1
Cc: Clifton, Alison MS
Subject: WWII BUNKER @ BANKSTOWN, NSW [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

UNCLASSIFIED

Hi Dave

On 12 Nov 07 Bankstown City Council wrote to the Secretary seeking to ascertain Defence's interest in joining
with Council and State agencies in preserving a WWII bunker which is located at Condell Park. The matter
was referred by DepSec DS to HI, who subsequently passed it to ASPS for action.

I understand from speaking to Mike that you handled the issue and it was referred to DoFD (Guy Verney) as
the land was not Defence. Mike's recollection is that DoFD refused to accept responsibility for the issue and
passed it back to Defence, but he can't recall what happened with it from there.

ASEP has now been approached by AFHQ (AIRCDRE Dennis Green) for help on this matter. This
approach is probably the result of him being contacted by Council because it hasn't heard anything back from
Defence. Given PS Br past involvement in the matter could you contact AIRCDRE Green and discuss
the matter with him

I have some paperwork on the matter if you need it

Thanks

'ac<

Director Estate Strategic Planning
Estate Planning Branch
BP3-1-A029
Tel: (02)6266 8092
Mob: 
Fax: (02)6266 8287
Email: graham. lacey@defence.gov. au

15/07/2008
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Australian Government

Department of Defence
Defence Support Group

Micli.icl Hcaly
Assisiant Seerciaiy
Prnpeny Scii'ict's
BP3-2-AGni
Department ol'Di'fl'nce
CANKERRA ACT 2600
Micliaet.HL'atyiodclence.g(i\i. 3u

Td: U2 A2ft6 S4yQ
Fa';:0362A6S276

ASPS/OUT/2007/227

Mr Greg Browii
Group Manager
Strategy and Governance
Bankstown City Council
PO Box 8
BANKSTOWN NSW 1885

Dear Mr Brown

WW 2 Bunker in Bankstown: RAAF's No. l Fighter Sector HQ (1943-'45)

Thank you for your letter of 12 November 2007 to Mr Nick Wamer, Secretary Department of
Defence. This matter has been referred to the Department of Finance and Deregulation who
will contact you to resolve the issue.

The contact person in the Department of Finance and Deregulation is Dr Guy Vemey, who
can be contacted on 02 6215 2222.

I trust this matter can be expediently resolved to the satisfaction of both Bankstown City
Council and the Commonwealth.

Yours sincerely

Michael Healy
Assistant Secretary
Property^Sen'ices

// Deceiiiber 2007

Deffwliny .•lii.'anilia and r.v >\ci!iiintii Inli'rnis
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AIR FORCE HEADQUARTERS
Directorate of Coordination - Air Force

To; ATTN: Alison Clifton
ASEP

Fax: 68287"
Tel:
E-mail:

From: AIRCDRE Green
AFHQ
Department of Defence
CANBERRA ACT 2600

Fax: (02) 626 57260
Tel: (02)62656239
E-maFlF

Subject^
Reference: Date: 1 Jul 08 Pages (including cover): 3

This fax remains the property of the Defence Organisation and is subject to the JurlsdicUon of section 70 of
the Cri/nes Act 1914. If you have received the facsimile In error, you are requested to immediately contact the
sender by telephone so that arrangements can be made for the return of the document to the sender.

Instructions or comments:
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r. ••" a COPY
AIR FORCE HEADQUARTERS

, R1-6-C002 Department of Defence, CANBERRA ACTlfiOO, AUSTRALIA
/(9</Z(a77/201-7

AFHQ 2007/

Mr Sayed Chowdhury
Political Analyst
Strategy and Policy Unit
Bankstown City Council
PO Box 8
BANKSTOWNNSW1885

Dear Mr Chowdhury

Thank you for providing a comprebeosive outline of the history of the WWH Bunker located
at Bankstown. I am writing to advise you that the matter of the WWII bunker and Conunand
Post in Bankstown is being considered by the RAAF Heritage Advisory Committee to
ascertain whether RAAF or the ADF hgs an inteiest in the project.

Once the committee has discussed the matter we wiU advise you of our decision.

D. G. GREEN, AM
Air Commodore

Acting Deputy Chief of Air Force

Tel: (02) 6265 5478

^. November 2007

(M»Y^ -\*'— ^ . _\. (^<^^ ̂'•-^•^
, ^ ̂ ^ T.VTc:^a'
^"^ ̂ .̂  ^—^c-°^^

.. 1.^ ^^:v::l^l-'~^. „.
^ ̂ c^o^ s^-. ^^£T^\:^>^ 0<3(' ^
^ , t^O.COft-^ <^^^ ?<l':>^t ^^V^v<-
^^^^^:t'^^^ffl

:^^-y^)7.^ ^.uQ^"^0^*^

^^^- cv^ ^^\^ ^y>- _ \^^;

^Ss^S-
^-! t:^^^-^^.
^"^:?^^^^"
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TRE^nra
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ouISgKiililgaSiil^^^il!^^
Document ID: QCAF/IN/2007/4992
Object ID; eR358756
Data Reglstored; 5 November 2007
Registered by: Rudnicki, Danielle (Mi$$)(AFHQ DCOORD-AF)

^ijni»nt world War II Bunker at Condell Park. Bankstown, South Western SydneyTitle;

Addresae«i: A/DCAF Through DCOORD - AF
Originator DDCRM

Extamal ID:

Filed On:

File Name: OCAFl1. Nov07

aistrlbutlon
Name / Appolntipant /-\

fe"
Code Comments

&'<-c

?c(^ ̂ «li< A-

(S)<-^0(M-
^(W<L-

<^{4s>sc-' <^^(-^6(STt <^l-

^NW- y^<^^·K^s· (o^J< .
f^^W&

A-Action I - information C-Comnwnts D-Draft Reply G-Olscuaa E • For Slgn.uurt F-Flla

Please return this slip to .,.....,......„...,....„„.„„ „„ „„ „„,„.„.,.....„.„....„. when you have completed action on this document
Document ID: OCAF/IN/2007/4992 oojoct ID; eR358756
Filed On;

Destroyed By;

Forwarded To;

Date:

Covering UNCLASSIFIED
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<-, DECISION BRIEF FOR A^DCAF

WORLD WAR II BUNKER AT CONDELL PARK, BANKSTPOWN, SOUTH WESTERN
SYDNEY

Background

Mr Sayed Chowdhury, Political Analyst, strategy and Policy Unit from Bankstown City Council,
has approached Air Force with some information about a WWII bunker. At its Ordinary Meetings
of 24 October and 21 November 2006, Bankstown City Council resolved to explore the potential for
preserving the site and to liaise with Commonwealth aod State agencies to try to ascertain their
interest in the project. An approach was made to the Office of Air Force History to ascertain the
OAFH interest in the site. It was considered unwise for OAFH to give any expression of interest, as
requested by Bankstown Council, in advance of consideration by the Defence Heritage
Management section in CSIG and RAAF Heritage Advisory Conunittee.

Bankstown City Council is grappling with issues regarding long-term preservation and use of the
site, and have identified Commoowealth/Defence interest as a critical element ui resolving these
questions. Specifically, when it comes to options for restoratioii, willingness to conunit funding is a
major consideration. Mr Chowdhury has sought advice from RAAF as to what support, if any,
could be expected.

Purpose

The purpose of this brief is to provide A/DCAF with this infonnation in order to detennine a way
ahead in relation to the responsibility for the restoration and funding for the WWII bunker.

Discussion

The World War H bunker is located at the comer of Marion Street and Edgar Street, Bankstown and
is buried beneath the open space and surrounded by clusters of War Services homes (Photos at flag
A). In the past, the site used to be known as the bushlgud of Black Charlie's Hill, The site was
originally owned by the Bankstown Hospital Trust and was later on acquired by the
Commonwealth. The site was selected for the underground RAAF and Allied Command Post
because of its proximity to the airport and the relay stations around the area. The bunker was
ooDstructed circa 1943.

Description of the Bunker

It appears from the available drawings (floor plans and sections at flag B) and photographs of the
interior that the bunker itself is a two-storey facility - a basement and a groimd floor each 9 feet
(2.75m) high - and measuring 117 feet 8.75 inches by 53 feet 9.5 iincbes (approx 35.9m x 16.4m).
The walls were constructed from brickwork approximately two feet (60cm) thick, with floors and
ceilings of reinforced concrete, The roof of the bunker was constructed of three feet (9 lcm) thick
concrete to make it bombproof. There were two exhaust air stacks and an air intake stack protruding
above ground.

The underground facility housed an extensive communication system, which was reportedly linked
to a control tower at Bass Hill. The bualcer had aa emergency power plant, air conditioning and 50
telephones installed. During the war, this bunker was used by the No. 1 Fighter Sector HQ, RAAP
as the Allied Command Post for the entire South Pacific operation. There was a code room, radio
transniitter room, kitchen, buffet (dining) area, male and female bathrooms, bedrooms and the main
operation hall had a huge wall map of the Southwest Pacific Area. :



Ol-JUL-2008 TUE 17:34 t-HX NU, r, us

G;
A Brief Post-war History: Rediscovered and Burned Out u 1970s

After the war, the facility was closed aiid was assigned a caretaker for three years, at the end of this
period the facility was secured. Thereafter, the bunker complex had remained forgotten for nearly
30. years, except that in 1965 the facility was briefly occupied by the Navy in connection with the
naval exercises in the Pacific. In 1971, the nine-acre site was handed over to the Commonwealth
Department of Housing for developing War Services homes.

It was about this time that the existence of the undergrouiid headquarters was rediscovered in 1971
and the whole facility including all equipment, telephones and furniture were found to be intact
(flag C). On Wednesday the 21 April 1971, The Sydney Morning :Herald, The Daily Telegraph and
The Torch siinultaneously published news items disclosing the existence of the underground
headquarters.

According to a front-page report (JUnderground RAAF HQ Offered to Council) in The Torch dated
the 28 April 1971, the then Commonwealth Minister for Housing had announced that the
Commonwealth would offer the headquarters building to Bankstown CoimcU for community use
and War Services homes are to be built on the remainder of the property. A condition of the
arrangement would be that the underground facility would not be touched and the underground
structure area would be set aside as an open space. It now appears that negotiations for handing over
the bimker site to Council did not eventuate.

The War Services homes were built at the site dunng 1974 -1975. It is not clear whether the
remainder of the laiid directly above the bunker was definitely excluded from the surroundmg
development for eventual handing over to Council as promised, Further research is also needed to
find out whether the vacant land on top of the bunker forms part of adjoining strata plans or is still
Commonwealth owned.

A year or two after its rediscovery in 1971, the underground historic facility was burned out. It was
either an act of vandalism or a &e lit by homeless people who were squattmg there,

 an adveaturer, clauned in an article by him published in the Jan-Mar 1994 issue
of The Corroboiee (Backyard adventure uncovers a wartime secret) that in 1987 he was able to
identify the entrance to the bunker buried in the backyard of one of the adjoining homes and, with
the help of the owner, eventually had managed to dig up a hole in the ground and crawl inside the
bunker through a 50cm diameter vent pipe,

He described the burned out facility as, "at least two storeys high and just a blackened shell with
lots of rooms and passages rumung off at various levels...."

An Internet search shows tliat gs late as January 1996 the bunker was entered and photographed by
a. group known as "Bunker Boyz", Photos on their website show their members inside the bumt-out
but structurally intact faciUty. Tbe enfa-ance to the bunlcer was reportedly resealed following an
incident around Christmas 1996 when the Police Rescue Squad was called in after some youths
were seen leaving the tunnel.

Historic Significaace of the WW 1 Bunker

The WW 2 Bunker, which was the RAAF's No, 1 Fighter Sector HQ (IFSHQ) and Allied
Command post for Southwest Pacific, is a large underground facility and could reasonably be
described as being of historic significance to Australia and may be considered as an icon of
Bankstown's wartime history. According to the Australian Post (June 24, 1971):

s47F
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c
".... General Macarthur paid several visits to the base to study aircraft movements..,, when he was
Commander-m-Chief of the Allied Forces in the Pacific,,. It was the heart of our defence network
where, m cooperation with {he highest officers of Navy and Army, ow bombers and fighters were
controlled and manoeuvred in defence and attack against the enemy... "

The IFSHQ had fust relocated from Sydney CBD to a picture theatre in Bankstown. Once the
underground facility was constructed, they eventually relocated to the Condell Park bunker during
the last years of the War (circa 1943). Although mentioned in the newspaper report above, there is
no confinnation that General Macarthur came to Bankstown.

Access to the Facility

Currentfy, the entrance and air vents are buried beneath the ground and are not identifiable.
Reportedly, the main entrance to the bunker is now biiried below the backyard of one of the villas.

 mentioned above, even had named the owner of this home in his 1994 article. It
may be possible to explore and identify the location of the entrance from the copies of plaiis
(construction drawings) available and informadon from people who reportedly entered the bunker
in the 1970s, 1980s and 1990s.

As already mentioned,, without further research, it cannot be immediately confirmed whether the
actual bunker site (the vacant land) forms part of the adjoining strata plans or is still
CommonweaIth/pubHc land. The legal ownership of the open space and access rights from public
roads are primary issues that need to be mvestigated and sorted out first, before any option for
restoration and reuse can be effectively considered.

Potential and Options for Restoration

From the copies of plans and other construcdon drawings, the underground Command Post bunker
appears to be a professionally designed and robustly constructed facility. Although furniture,
soundproof wall claddings, ceilings, and artefacts were burned out, its concrete and brick shell is
expected to still retain its structural integrity and soundness. It may be possible to restore the facility
for suitable reuse, as a museum or a similar public facility, subject to the ability to provide legal and
safe access and egress.

When it was rediscovered in the 1970s, its interior was completely mtact and a series of
photographs taken at that time is still available, and restoration of the interior to its war time look is
considered still technically feasible. This would be an expensive option and as a significant historic
project it would be likely to mvolve several key stakeholders.

Another option would be to get the structural integrity and safety of the bimied out shell confirmed
by experts and then use it as-it-is as a historical facility or a compatible tourism or community
related purpose, including a WWU memorabUia museum or a light md sound WWU history show.
For example, in Mallacoota near Melbourne, local RSL and Historical Society converted a WWII
RAAF bunker at Mallacoota's airstrip into a military museum. Sappers from the Australian Amiy
carried out the restoration work.

In Darwin, the East Point bunker where the army planned top end defence strategy during WW2 ha^
been coiiverted into a military museum. In Coffs Harbour, die City Council and the local Rotary
Club joined hands and restored a derelict WWII bunker to house the Australia's largest original
cartoon coUection, known as Bunker Cartoon Gallery. 'Only mmor alterations were made to ensure
the historical integrity of the structure was preserved.

s47F
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c,: Factors for Consideration

• It is essential that the legal ownership of the bunker site is determined. Once this has been
identified the responsibility for the feasibility of public access to it and any restoration can
be progressed.

• It is possible that negotiations for banding over the bunker site to Council did not eventuate.
• Further research is also needed to find out whether the vacant land on top of the buxiker

forms part of adjoining strata plans or is still Commonwealth owned.
* The legal ownership of the open space and access rights from public roads are primary

issues that need to be investigated and sorted out first, before any option for restoration and
reuse can be effectively considered.

• A preliminary engineering, heritage and conservation assessment of the site should be done
and if appropriate apply to have the site heritage listed. This status will facilitate
involvement of Commonwealth and other stakeholders which may include the ADF, RSL,
philanthropic organisations and the media - in the provision of funding, expertise and
community support to help the project take off. For example, the President of the
Bankstown Sports Club has already expressed interest m taking a proposal to his Board to
help fiuiance the restoration of the bunker.

Summary

It would be appropriate to refer the matter to the RAAJF Heritage Advisory Committee to determine
the way ahead and formally identify the legal ownership of the bunker. Once ownership has been
identified other issues such as funding and restoration can be investigated. The first step for Air
Force is to detennine whether it has any legal ownership or responsibility for heritage matters
relating to the bunker so that the Bankstown City Council can be informed.

Recommendation!

It is recommended that you:
C^Cl^PV ^^<r-

1.

2.

^^-se- ̂ ^,<—, _^^
^^.^^^^\
QS</ , ^ov^C. ̂ uv?t-^°,
Ocr< ^ ^^WL
^<\ ^^- (l^Sf*<

Aereeto present the case to the Heritage Advisory Committee for consideration.  ̂>

SiCT the attached letter to Mr Sayed Chowdhury advising him that the matter is being
considered.

Prepared by: WGCDR Jo Elkington, DDCRM.

Consultation: Dr Chris dark OAFH.

AUTHORISED BY:

A,-BOTRZYCKI
OPCAPT
DCOORD-AP

ôv07

1. ̂  .AGREE /^05-AeREECT

2. GREEN
AIRCDRE
A^)CAP

^ . Nov 07

s22 s22
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The BankBtown BunRer is located bolowthls area of land under Marion
Reserve, comftr of Marion and Edgar Streets, Condell Park.

Flag - A

Bumed-out shell of the Bunker.
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Page 1 of 1

Stewart, Duncan MR 1

From:

Sent:

To:

Subject:

Carman, David MR

Tuesday, 27 January 2009 1 1:49
Stewart, Duncan MR 1

WW2 BUNKER AT BANKSTOWN [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

Categories: UNCLASSIFIED

UNCLASSIFIED

Hi Duncan

Thank you for the info provided in your email dated 22 Jan 09.

Dave French is currently on leave so I have not been able to get any further background details from him or
his staff regarding the preparation of responses relating to this matter.

Bankstown City Council wrote to the Secretary on 12 November 2007 and have written agamon24,Dec^08
and'our'offic'ehas'been requested to review and prepare a response to the latter letter^^thaveno
^ith The Secretary's Off'ice,'1but'suspect there was no response'to the Bankstown City Council's first letter (
Nov 07.

Would you mind casting your eye over your file with a view to ascertaining what the Hnka9e_was_wlth^Air Force
(ATRCDREGreen'minuteYand'to confirm if the request from David F also related_totheBanksto,wn,c,ity, ̂ ^
CouncTl'sTetter of12 Nov 2007. Subject to how successful you are, could you send me copies i
please.

Thank you

David Carman
EO Master Planning - NSW/ACT/SAA/IC/NT-K
Land Planning and Spatial Information Section
Estate Planning Branch
Brindabella Business Park (BP3-1-A007)
Department of Defence
CANBERRA ACT 2600

Ph:(02)62668189
Fax: (02) 6266 8294
Mob: 

IMPORTANT: This e-mail remains the property of the Australian Defence Organisation and is subject to the
jurisdiction of Section 70 of'the Crimes Act 1914. If you have received this e-mail in error, you are requested
to contact the sender and delete the e-mail.

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Australian Defence Organisation and is subject to the
jurisdiction of section 70 of the Crimes Act 1914. If you have received this email in error, you are requested to
contact the sender and delete the email.

@)

28/01/2009

Defence FOI 090/20/21 
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Stewart, Duncan MR 1

Stewart, Duncan MR 1

Thursday, 22 January 2009 9:54

Carman, David MR

WWII Bunker at Bankstown [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

From:

Sent:

To:

Subject:

Categories: UNCLASSIFIED
Attachments: Property Disposals DPD letter to AIRCDRE Green re Banksotwn Bunker August 2008.doc;

Attachments for DPD letter to AIRCDRE Green.doc

UNCLASSIFIED

David

As discussed, please find attached copy of minute together with attachments that were sent to AIRCDRE
Green on 1 Sept 2008. We've heard nothing since.

Let me know if we can be of further help

Regards

Duncan Stewart

Acting Assistant Director Property Disposals
Property Disposals, Sydney, Defence Support Group

Ph: (02) 9377 3660 Email: duncan. stewartl @defence. gov. au

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Australian Defence Organisation and is subject to the
jurisdiction of section 70 of the Crimes Act 1914. If you have received this email in error, you are requested to
contact the sender and delete the email.

22/01/2009



Australian Government

Department of Defence
Defence Support Group

David French

Director

Property Disposals
BP2-2-A034
Department of Defence
CANBERRA ACT 2600
david. trench I (tfdel'ence. gov. au

Tel: 0262668017
Fax', 02 6266 8276

PDS/OUT/2008/65

AIRCDRE Green
Director General Air Force Special Projects
Via email: dennis. green l(%defence. gov. au

Dear AIRCDRE Green

WWII BUNKER AT BANKSTOWN, NSW

Reference is made to my email dated 12 June 2008 regarding ownership of the WWII bunker at
Bankstown, NSW.

Further investigations by Property Disposals have found that the area in question, then identified as
Lot 18 in DP253720, was sold by the Defence Service Homes Corporation, NSW in 1977 for
subdivision and development into strata lots. A surveyor's plan detailing a portion of the
subdivision is attached for your information (refer Attachment A).

The location of the bunker is at the corner of Marion and Edgar Streets, Condell Park, not at Marion
Reserve as previously suggested in documents provided by Bankstown City Council. The two
locations appear to be entirely separate with only the former being of relevance to the bunker. The
bunker seems to be located under a number of strata title town houses, however the location of the

original entrance to the bunker facility is unknown to Property Disposals. Internet research
suggests that an informal entrance is located within the back garden of one of the townhouses and
that the bunker may still be frequented by amateur explorers.

Further inquiries also unearthed a photograph taken in 1943 which shows the construction of the
bunker within a nine (9) acre plot (refer Attachment B). It seems from the photographs that the
bunker may have been constructed to just above ground level.

It would appear that the Commonwealth does not own the land above the site of the bunker.
However, it may be advisable to obtain legal opinion as to the current ownership of the bunker
itself, as the transfer of land title may not have identified or included the underground facility.
There also remain some questions as to potential liability for the structural integrity of the bunker
and for injuries of any persons who may access the bunker.

I trust this information is of some assistance to your staff and their enquiries in this matter..

Yours sincerely

id French
DP!

^ .̂ August 2008

Defending Australia and its National tnieresls

s22



A
t
t
a
c
h
m
e
n
t
 
A

>s?iKill£LilLlI
7-a?-

.inaddit c» 
A)U(I 

8«|iiiuaa u
u
y

Ill
-IllIII ll
3 w ffII int-1

^
 
^ ll! ̂

!

\iII

ul'i

sI, E

^
!

Uft 
P0i(]''i' 

-Q.
/'' 

d
:
o
j
'
s
/
P
?
i
 

A
'
w
 
a
i
u
 
i»*itaa:anit

j) 
f-s 

l:faaE/ 
ITVSafifl/ 

FC:6l 
B
O
P
;
 

TTT- 
«?:13<t,

'' 
3)fl-3S-i=1S/ 

BgOS-CTr-E?^/'"<a/ 
< 

S
f
T
C
T
C
O
 

W-~'C-V 
Q»W9ffa:l<'tl

s22

s22

s22



FORM ^
I

WWMINGt CTEAS1W3 W RXmNG W1U. LEAD Wl REJBCT10N
>1 « Hi

L3CAT10N PLAN STRATA PLAN IZ199

r^AR 1 a h

i
i
?!

^1
a-2
-< ;-c-

-b]
gf^l
y

s s

IJ
I?
ii
S3
g

n~STi~

m
0
0
>
»
C/l
H
»
n

^

9 f S !i;

•" A. \

STREET

_^^_
/

^ A \. ^<^x^^^<^>.

/; ^ /-< ^ •s»^(-»<-^

»^
t.A«l

1!'^^
-/;.Y
(wewy^"^'

^

ii'ftilT nr r&gTWAT
^a) X- »ii» WIOE i:ne*T;i;n

Of ofi^sao-ra SEE piy.r'.-t.i-'

SiDHl Of W6V V*ti. W1011
!:i»EATEO W II'I*. 3*1 D •?0 yt CTtAlin

HEduction natio T; 500 Longih

Awtts'rt -frj Mq'-y

11" J

|U-

1&-
ry

\=c

l'UT

•-B

nwrwiwiBcittt" {tEG !?)° '9126'**'"*

&s
ft
er
3
ft
S3

s22

s22



Attachment B

Red boundary indicates the original 9 acre site containing the Bunker
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Peaker, Nicola MS

From:

Sent:

To:

Subject:

fldAfterOnSend:

fldClassification:

ftdCom posed:

fldPmNs:

fldPmVer:

fldPrecedence:

French, David MR 1

Monday, 4 August 2008 16:22

Peaker, Nicola MS

RE: WWII BUNKER @ BANKSTOWN, NSW [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

UNCLASSIFIED ROUTINE

UNCLASSIFIED

sent

gov.au

2005.6

ROUTINE

fldPrevClassification: UNCLASSIFIED

fldVersion: V1. 0.9

UNCLASSIFIED

Nicola,

I did not ever receive a response.

Dave French

Director

Property Disposals

Tel. (02)62668017

From: Peaker, Nicola MS
Sent: Monday, 4 August 2008 16:13
To: French, David MR 1
Subject: RE: WWII BUNKER @ BANKSTOWN, NSW [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

UNCLASSIFIED

Hi David,

I am in the process of drafting a letter for AIRCDRE Green from yourself to pass on what information we have
uncovered re: the bunker.

Did the AIRCDRE ever send a response to your email below?

Thanks,

Nicola.

From: French, David MR 1
Sent: Friday, 11 July 2008 10:20
To: Green, Dennis AIRCDRE 1

18/08/2008

Defence FOI 090/20/21 
Item 6



Page 2 of 3

Cc: Clifton, Alison MS; Lacey, Graham MR; Holcroft, Lorraine MS; Weston, Terr/ MR
Subject: RE: WWII BUNKER @ BANKSTOWN, NSW [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

UNCLASSIFIED

AIRCDRE Green,

In late 2007 this matter was referred to the Department of Finance and Deregulation (DoFD) for action
as the last "owner" of the site appeared to have been the then Commonwealth Department of
Housing. Any disposal/transfer action of Commonwealth property around that time would have been
handled by an agency now subsumed by DoFD - the former Dept of Administrative Services or the
Australian Property Group.

ASPS wrote to Council advising them of the DoFD point of contact (copy attached). To date I have
been unable to locate either a response from Council or DoFD on this issue.

It would appear to me that the issue of ownership remains unresolved, therefore so do the respective
heritage obligations for preserving the site under either Commonwealth or State legislation.

Might I suggest that the RAAF Heritage Advisory Committee make contact with Council to determine
what, if any', action has taken place. If nothing has happened it would be useful if Council could
provide the Lot and Section number for the property and a copy of the registered title from their Lands
Titles Office. The title should establish legal ownership. If no title is able to be located the
Commonwealth will need to seek legal opinion as to the way forward. This matter would need to be
discussed further between Defence and DoFD to determine who should carry the action.

Hope this assists.

Dave French
A/ASPS

Tel. (02)626681)17

From: Lacey, Graham MR
Sent: Wednesday, 2 July 2008 17:21
To: French, David MR 1
Cc: Clifton, Alison MS
Subject: WWII BUNKER @ BANKSTOWN, NSW [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

UNCLASSIFIED

Hi Dave

On 12 Nov 07 Bankstown City Council wrote to the Secretary seeking to ascertain Defence's interest in
Joining with Council and State agencies in preserving a WWII bunkerwhich is located at Condell Park.
The matter was referred by DepSec DS to HI, who subsequently passed it to ASPS for action.

I understand from speaking to Mike that you handled the issue and it was referred to DoFD (Guy
Vemey) as the land'was not Defence. Mike's recollection is that DoFD refused to accept responsibility
for the issue and passed it back to Defence, but he can't recall what happened with it from there.

ASEP has now been approached by AFHQ (AIRCDRE Dennis Green) for help on this matter. This
approach is probably the result of him being contacted by Council because it hasn't heard
anything back from Defence. Given PS Br past involvement in the matter could you contact AIRCDRE
Green and discuss the matter with him

I have some paperwork on the matter if you need it

Thanks

18/08/2008
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^ace^
Director Estate Strategic Planning
Estate Planning Branch
BP3-1-A029
Tel: (02)6266 8092
Mob: 
Fax: (02)6266 8287
Email: graham. lacey@defence. gov. au

18/08/2008
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Peaker, Nicola MS

From: 

Sent: Wednesday, 30 July 2008 16:37

To: Peaker, Nicola MS

Subject: Re: Bankstown WWII bunker [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]
Attachments: 20080730162935.pdf

fldClassification: UNCLASSIFIED

hli Nicola

We acknowledge receipt of your email and further to our voice message earlier today, please find attached for
your consideration and information the title details of -

• each lot with in SP 12199 including CP/SP12199 and a plan of the strata plan
• CP/SP11442
• CP/SP60820
• CP/SP11595
• CP/SP12200
• CP/SP12092

We have reviewed the land where the bunker in question was built together with the adjoining strata plans to
confirm if Defence holds an interest in this property. It would appear from the fore-mentioned titles that the
ownership of the bunker or an easement for the bunker has not been created.

In addition, for your information the cost of the title searches as been included for your reference. UGL will
provide a tax invoice to you accordingly for Defence's payment; in due course.

Should you have any queries, please contact me directly on 02 9224 8035.

Regards

National Techmcal Manayr Revenue Leasuig
Tel. 0292248035
Fax. 0292248055
Mobile 
Email, 

i:rf'ra Services

IIP

"Peaker, Nicola MS"
<Nicola.Peaker@defence.gov.au>

< >

Subject Bankstown WWII bunker [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED]

18/08/2008

Defence FOI 090/20/21 
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Page 2 of 3

30/07/2008 12:00 PM

UNCLASSIFIED

Hi 

I have been provided with the attached photos of the bunker in question being built in 1943.

You can clearly see from the overlay which plots of land it utilised.

Thought it may assist in the search.

It also appears that it may have been built above ground and then covered.

Regards,

Nicola.

Nicola Peaker

Nicola Peaker
Department of Defence
Property Disposals
Ph. 02 9377 2029
Fx. 02 9377 2036
nicola. peaker@defence. gov. au

From:  (SKM) 
Sent: Wednesday, 30 July 2008 09:34
To: Peaker, Nicola MS; Stewart, Duncan MR 1
Subject: R/V: Condell Park

Dear Nicola and Duncan

Attached are two files with the 1943 photo of the site. The yellow lines are the current cadastre (property boundaries)
overtayed on the photo. Please note that the cadastre overlay is pretty close but not 100% accurate.

The good news is I believe that the bunker is actually shown in these photos. It looks like it straddles four Strata Plans,
You can also see the two piles of soil to the west of it.

Very interesting.

Regards

Senior Property Consultant
100 Christie Street St Leonards NSW 2065

n^

18/08/2008
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Tel: +61 2 9928 2395
Fax: +61 99282520
Mobile: +61 
Email: 
Sinclair Knight Merz
achieve outstanding client success
For further information, visit our website www.skmconsulting.com

SKM is committed to working with its clients to deliver a sustainable future for all. Please consider
the environment before printing this e-mail.
Notice - This message contains confidential information intended only for the exclusive use of the
addressee named above. No confidentiality is waived or lost by any mistaken transmission to you. If
you have received this message in error please delete the document and notiiy us immediatel}.
Any opinion, text, documentation or attachment received is valid as at the date of issue only. The
recipient is responsible for reviewing the status of the transferred information and should advise us
immediately upon receipt of any discrepancy.
All email sent to SKM will be intercepted, screened and filtered by SKM or its approved Service
Providers.

This email has been scanned by the MessageLabs Email Security System.
For more information please visit http://www. messagelabs. com/email

"Condell Park_Larger_Area. pdf deleted by /KFPW] [attachment
"Condell_Park. pdf deleted by /KFPW]

[attachment

UNITED GROUP
This email message is the property of United Group, The information in this email is confidential
and may be legally privileged. It is intended solely for the addressee. Access to this email by anyone
else is unauthorised. If you are not the intended recipient, you may not disclose, copy or distribute
this email, nor take or omit to take any action in reliance on it. United Group accepts no liability for
any damage caused by this email or any attachments due to viruses, interference, interception,
corruption or unauthorised access.
If you have received this email in error, please notify United Group immediately by email to the
sender's email address and delete this document.

18/08/2008
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Billing System Query/Report Page 2 of 2

User ID: kfpw-defence (United KFPW Pty Ltd) from 29/07/2008 to 30/07/2008

NSW Property

Prod ID

LPIEP

RT

RT

RT

R.T

RT

RT

RT

RT

RT

RT

RT

RT

R.T

RT

RT

RT

RT

RT

Totals

Product

Plan

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

TiUe
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

TIUe
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

Title
Search

User ID; kfpw-defence

Date (epxcriGCSeT) (^^) GST TransID ^ference Matter
29/07/2008 $17.60 $19.36 $1.76 8873339 12199 N Peaker
15:32:49

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19. 14 $1. 7.4 8873432 1/SP12199 N Peaker
15:42:28

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873438 2/SP12199 N Peaker
15:43:08

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1,74 8873447 3/SP12199 N Peaker
15:43:52

$17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873450 4/SP12199 N Peaker

4. 17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873452 5/SP12199 N Peaker

29/07/2008
15:44:11

29/07/2008
15:44:35

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873455 6/SP12199 N Peaker
15:44:56

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873468 7/SP12199 N Peaker
15:46:01

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873470 8/SP12199 N Peaker
15:46:15

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19. 14 $1.74 8873473 9/SP12199 N Peaker
15;46;28

29/07/2008 $17. 40 $19. 14 $1.74 8873479 10/SP12199 N Peaker
15:46:40

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873484 11/SP12199 N Peaker
15:47:00

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8873487 12/SP12199 N Peaker
15:47:14

29/07/2008 $17.40 $19, 14 $1.74 8873492 CP/SP12199 N Peaker
15:47:41

30/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8881187 CP/SP11442 N Peaker
16:12:47

30/07/2008 $17.40 $19. 14 $1. 74 8881197 CP/SP60820 N Peaker
16:13:35

30/07/2008 $17.40 $19.14 $1.74 8881202 CP/SP11595 N Peaker
16:14:10

30/07/2008 $17.40 $19. 14 $1.74 8881205 CP/SP12200 N Peaker
16:14:48

30/07/2008 $17,40 $19, 14 $1,74 8881209 CP/SP12092 N Peaker
16:15:20

19 Transactions $330. 80 $363. 88 $33. 08

Totals for kfpw"
defence

19 Transactions $330. 80 $363. 88 $33. 08

http://www. gxs.com. au/gxbilling/5362726f8738314b65346c45345544161b872b38.cont 30/07/2008
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

In late 2007 this matter was referred to the Department of Finance and Deregulation (DoFD) for action as 
the last "owner" of the site appeared to have been the then Commonwealth Department of Housing.  Any 
disposal/transfer action of Commonwealth property around that time would have been handled by an 
agency now subsumed by DoFD - the former Dept of Administrative Services or the Australian Property 
Group.   

ASPS wrote to Council advising them of the DoFD point of contact (copy attached).  To date I have been 
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
what, if any, action has taken place.  If nothing has happened it would be useful if Council could provide 
the Lot and Section number for the property and a copy of the registered title from their Lands Titles 
Office.  The title should establish legal ownership.  If no title is able to be located the Commonwealth will 
need to seek legal opinion as to the way forward.  This matter would need to be discussed further 
between Defence and DoFD to determine who should carry the action.  

Hope this assists. 

Dave French 

A/ASPS 

Defence FOI 090/20/21 
Item 10



Defence FOI 090/20/21 
Item 111



From:  (SKM)  
Sent: Wednesday, 30 July 2008 11:43 AM 
To: Peaker, Nicola MS 
Subject: RE: Condell Park [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED] 

Exactly how it would have been built.  Happy for you to forward to UGS. 

 
Senior Property Consultant 

100 Christie Street St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9928 2395 
Fax: +61 9928 2520 
Mobile: +61 (  
Email:  

Sinclair Knight Merz 
achieve outstanding client success  
For further information, visit our website www.skmconsulting.com 

From: Peaker, Nicola MS [mailto:Nicola.Peaker@defence.gov.au] 

Sent: Wednesday, 30 July 2008 11:41 AM 

To:  (SKM) 
Subject: RE: Condell Park [SEC=UNCLASSIFIED] 

UNCLASSIFIED 

Thanks  

Great piccies.... looks almost like they built it above ground and then buried it. Changes the legal 
perspective for ownership. 

Do you mind if I forward the piccies to UGS for their title search project?? 

Thanks, 

Nicola. 

Nicola Peaker  

Nicola Peaker  
Department of Defence 

Property Disposals  

Ph. 02 9377 2029  

Fx. 02 9377 2036  
nicola.peaker@defence.gov.au 

Defence FOI 090/20/21 
Item 12
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From:  (SKM) [mailto ] 

Sent: Wednesday, 30 July 2008 09:34 
To: Peaker, Nicola MS; Stewart, Duncan MR 1 

Subject: FW: Condell Park 

Dear Nicola and Duncan 

Attached are two files with the 1943 photo of the site.  The yellow lines are the current cadastre 
(property boundaries) overlayed on the photo.  Please note that the cadastre overlay is pretty 
close but not 100% accurate. 

The good news is I believe that the bunker is actually shown in these photos.  It looks like it 
straddles four Strata Plans.  You can also see the two piles of soil to the west of it. 

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

SKM is committed to working with its clients to deliver a sustainable future for all. 

Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail. 

Notice - This message contains confidential information intended only for the exclusive 

use of the addressee named above. No confidentiality is waived or lost by any mistaken 

transmission to you. If you have received this message in error please delete the 

document and notify us immediately.  

Any opinion, text, documentation or attachment received is valid as at the date of issue 

only. The recipient is responsible for reviewing the status of the transferred information 

and should advise us immediately upon receipt of any discrepancy.  

All email sent to SKM will be intercepted, screened and filtered by SKM or its approved 

Service Providers. 

SKM is committed to working with its clients to deliver a sustainable future for all. Please 

s22
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consider the environment before printing this e-mail. 

Notice - This message contains confidential information intended only for the exclusive use of 

the addressee named above. No confidentiality is waived or lost by any mistaken transmission to 

you. If you have received this message in error please delete the document and notify us 

immediately.  

Any opinion, text, documentation or attachment received is valid as at the date of issue only. The 

recipient is responsible for reviewing the status of the transferred information and should advise 

us immediately upon receipt of any discrepancy.  

All email sent to SKM will be intercepted, screened and filtered by SKM or its approved Service 

Providers. 
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